IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

No. 23 CF 387

Clerk of the Court  
Received 01/05/2024 08:55 AM  
Filed 01/05/2024 08:55 AM

BRIAN CARRUTH ) 2021 CF2 006934  
Appellant,  
vs.  
UNITED STATES,  
Appellee )

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA – CRIMINAL DIVISION  
FELONY BRANCH

## BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

David H. Reiter, Esq.  
Bar # 412012  
6412 Brandon Avenue, Suite 144  
Springfield, VA 22150  
202-495-1294  
Counsel for Appellant

##

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

**I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING MR. CARRUTH'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL?**

**II. DID THE TRIAL COURT'S RULE ON WITNESSES ORDER FOR MR. CARRUTH NOT TO DISCUSS HIS TESTIMONY WITH HIS COUNSEL VIOLATE HIS RIGHTS UNDER THE SIXTH AMENDMENT?**

**III. IS D.C. CODE 22 § 4504 (a)(1) (2001) UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS APPLIED TO MR. CARRUTH'S CONVICTION?**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 5, 2021, a member of the United States Secret Service Uniform Division was on routine patrol in the area of 18th Street and C Street, N.W. in the District of Columbia when they observed a red Silverado truck drive through a yellow light. As a result of this traffic stop, a Remington .783 single shot rifle was located inside the cab of the vehicle in a padlocked rifle case by the investigating officers. A box of ammunition was also located in the vehicle. As a result, Brian Carruth was arrested and charged with one count of Carrying a Rifle or Shotgun (Outside Home or Business) in violation of D.C. Code 22 § 4504 (a)(1) (2001) in case 2021 CF2 6934. On June 5, 2022, a Grand Jury sitting in the Superior Court of the District of Columbia Criminal Division returned a three-count indictment against Mr. Carruth charging him as follows: Count One Carrying a Rifle or Shotgun (Outside Home or Business) in violation of D.C. Code 22 § 4504(a)(1) (2001); Count Two Possession of Unregistered Firearm in violation of D.C. Code 7 § 2502.01(a) (2001); and Count Three Unlawful Possession of Ammunition D.C. Code 7 § 2506.01(a)(3) (2001).

A jury trial was held between February 22nd and February 28th, 2023, in front of the Honorable Michael O'Keefe, Associate Judge. At the conclusion of the trial a jury convicted Mr. Carruth on all three counts.

On April 27, 2023, Mr. Carruth was sentenced to 18 months of incarceration, execution of sentence suspended, 3 years supervised release suspended, and 18 months of supervised probation on Count One, 9 months of incarceration, execution of sentence suspended, 18 months of supervised probation on Count Two, and 9 months of incarceration, execution of sentence suspended, and 18 months of supervised probation on Count Three. All counts were ordered to run concurrent with each other. Mr. Carruth was also ordered to pay a total of \$200 under the Victims of Crime Compensation Act.

On May 4, 2023, Mr. Carruth filed a timely notice of appeal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

### The Government's Evidence

On December 5, 2021, at about 3:00 p.m., Tyler Young of the Uniform Division of the United States Secret Service was on routine patrol in the area of 18<sup>th</sup> and C Street, N.W., in the District of Columbia, when he observed a red Chevrolet Silverado truck parked at the intersection of 18<sup>th</sup> and C Streets. From the vantage point of his cruiser, he could see that on top of the truck bed was a black case which he knew from past experience could store a rifle. During his testimony

in court, Officer Young stated that he was familiar with this type of case as he owned one himself. (02/23/23 Tr. 43-45).<sup>1</sup>

Upon viewing both the truck and the black case on top of the bed of the vehicle, Officer Young drove past the Silverado and then around the block so that he could reposition himself at the back of the truck. However, as soon as Officer Young pulled in back of the vehicle, the truck pulled out and started to move with the officer's car following. At one point the Silverado passed through a steady yellow light. Officer Young also recalled that at the time the truck went through the yellow light, he observed, what he thought, were expired license plates.<sup>2</sup> In response to both elements, the officer activated his emergency lights and proceeded to execute a traffic stop of the truck. (02/23/23 Tr. 45-47). As soon as Officer Young activated his emergency lights, he made a radio call to his central dispatch for backup as the truck came to a halt. When his backup subsequently arrived Officer Young exited his cruiser and proceeded to the driver side of the Silverado. The officer recalled that he initially asked the driver<sup>3</sup> of the truck whether there were any weapons in the truck or in the back, to which the driver responded that there were no weapons in the Silverado. The driver, later identified

---

<sup>1</sup> "Tr." proceeded by a date and followed by one or more-page numbers refers to the transcript of the trial court proceedings on the date and at the page(s) indicated.

<sup>2</sup> Officer Young testified later during the trial that he was ultimately mistaken that the license plates on the Silverado were expired. (02/23/23 Tr. 48).

<sup>3</sup> Officer Young identified in court Brian Carruth as the individual who was the driver of the Silverado. (02/23/23 Tr. 52).

as Brian Carruth, told the officer that the back of the vehicle only contained camping equipment. (02/23/23 Tr. 51).

After his initial inquiry of Mr. Carruth concerning whether there were any weapons inside the vehicle, Officer Young proceeded to request Mr. Carruth's driver's license and the vehicle's registration. Officer Young then returned to his police car and proceeded to call in the information to his central dispatch.<sup>4</sup> The officer testified that while he was calling in the information on the radio, Officer Pina, one of the responding backup officers who was standing on the passenger's side of the truck, was advised by Mr. Carruth that he had a rifle inside his truck. Officer Pina then removed Mr. Carruth from the truck and placed him in handcuffs. Shortly thereafter several police technicians arrived and began to process the items inside the Silverado. During the inventory of the truck's contents, a locked rifle case with a rifle inside was located inside the vehicle. (02/23/23 Tr. 52-53, 55). No weapons were ever located inside the box that sat atop the back of the truck which was the subject of Officer Young's initial concern. (02/23/23 Tr. 59). During his testimony, Officer Young recalled that Mr. Carruth was calm and cooperative. During their conversation the officer claimed that Mr. Carruth told him that he (Mr. Carruth) was in the Washington, D.C. area on a matter of

---

<sup>4</sup> The recording of Officer Young's radio call to the dispatch was introduced as Gov't's Exhibit #2.

national security with the Department of the Interior and that he was going to visit the White House. (02/23/23 Tr. 71-74).

One of the other officers who arrived as backup for Officer Young on December 5<sup>th</sup> was Officer Jacob Pina of the Uniformed division of the United States Secret Service. Officer Pina was patrolling the nearby area when he received a call for a traffic stop in progress. When he arrived at 18<sup>th</sup> and C Streets to assist Officer Young, Officer Pian walked up to the driver side window of the red Silverado. As Officer Young returned to his police vehicle so that he could call the driver's information in to their dispatch, Officer Pina initiated a conversation with the driver. He specifically asked the driver whether there were any weapons inside the vehicle. In response, the driver, who Officer Pina identified in court as Mr. Carruth, stated that there was a rifle inside the truck. It was at this point that Officer Pina removed Mr. Carruth from the vehicle and placed him in handcuffs. (02/23/23 Tr. 99-102).<sup>5</sup>

All the items located inside Mr. Carruth's truck were processed by Officer Jeffrey Adubato of the United States Secret Service Crime Scene Search Unit. Besides taking photos of the truck and the items located inside Mr. Carruth's

---

<sup>5</sup> The third officer who arrived at the scene as served as additional backup was Officer Derrick Fenwick of the Uniform Division of the United States Secret Service. His testimony was similar to that of Officer Pina. It was Officer Fenwick who stood by the passenger side window of Mr. Carruth's truck when Officer Young went back to his car to radio the dispatch. He could not hear what both Mr. Carruth and Officer Pina were discussing as Officer Pina took Officer Young's place at the driver's side window. He observed Officer Pina remove Mr. Carruth from the vehicle and it was he, Officer Fenwick, who read Mr. Carruth his *Miranda* rights. (02/23/23 Tr. 109-112).

Silverado, Officer Adubato noted that one of the physical items he discovered was a Remington long .780 rifle locked inside a padlocked rifle case that was located inside the cab of the truck and behind the passenger side of the truck along with two spent cartridges and a box of ammunition. Officer Adubato additionally testified that several pieces of paper that contained different writings were also located inside the cab of the truck. (02/23/23 Tr. 134-136).<sup>6</sup>

Finally, Doris Brown of the District of Columbia Metropolitan Police Department's Firearm Registration Unit testified that Mr. Carruth was not registered to possess a firearm in the District of Columbia, nor was he licensed to carry a firearm in the District of Columbia.<sup>7</sup>

#### Defense First Motion for Judgment of Acquittal

At the conclusion of the government's case-in-chief the defense made their first motion for judgment of acquittal. The basis for the defense's motion was that Mr. Carruth had a constitutional right to own, transport, and carry his legally registered in Ohio firearm based on the United States Supreme Court decision in *N.Y.S. Rifle & Pistol Ass'n, Inc. v. Bruen*, 142 S. Ct. 2111, 213 L. Ed. 2d 387 (2022) irrespective of any licensing requirements in any state. (02/27/23 Tr. 7-9).

---

<sup>6</sup> Photos of the rifle case and the rifle inside the case were introduced as Gov't's Exhibits #3-7. A photo of the rifle's receipt showing purchase in the state of Ohio was introduced as Gov't's Exhibit #13-14, and a photo of the box of ammunition was introduced as Gov't's Exhibit #18. The physical rifle was introduced as Gov't's Exhibit #32, and the ammunition as Exhibit #34.

<sup>7</sup> The Certificate of No Firearms Registration was introduced as Gov't's Exhibit #35, and the Certificate of No License to Carry was introduced as Gov't's Exhibit #35A.

The defense further pointed out that in terms of satisfying all the elements of D.C. Code 22 § 4504 (a)(1), the police recovered the firearm in question locked securely within a padlocked rifle case behind the passenger side of Mr. Carruth's Silverado and was by no means readily accessible to him as he was passing through the District of Columbia. (02/27/23 Tr. 30).

The trial court denied the motion. It held that, in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the government, there was sufficient evidence that the rifle in Mr. Carruth's truck was not licensed in the District of Columbia, and it was possessed not by either mistake or accident. The ruling also held that he carried it outside of his home or place of business and there was evidence that the firearm was not registered in the District of Columbia, as required under the law. Finally, it held that there was sufficient evidence that Mr. Carruth was in possession of ammunition, and that he did not have a registration certificate for a firearm of the same caliber. The trial court then went on to rule that although the record was clear that the rifle was in a locked container, it was still directly behind the driver's seat within arm's reach. The court recalled that Officer Young stated that it was clear that the locked rifle case was not necessarily inaccessible, even though one had to push away all the items that were on top of it. Lastly, the court held that the 38 rounds of ammunition were in close proximity to the rifle. For these reasons the trial court denied the defense's motion. (02/27/23 Tr. 41-43).

## The Defense's Evidence

Mr. Carruth choose to testify on his own behalf. Prior to his testimony the trial court proceeded with its vior dire as required under *Boyd v. United States*, 586 A.2d 670 (D.C. 1991).

Mr. Carruth testified that on December 5, 2021, he was arrested in the District of Columbia for hunting and camping equipment that was located in the interior of his truck. Mr. Carruth recalled that prior to his arrest he was in the process of selling his home in Ohio. He was travelling through the District of Columbia because of a career opportunity with the Department of Interior that was posted on the internet. The reason he was in the area at the time was due to the fact that he wanted to check out the sites in the District of Columbia and to see for himself the area and whether he wanted to live here. More importantly, at the time he had no intent in staying in the District of Columbia. He testified that he was only in the District of Columbia for about 20 minutes when he was stopped by the Secret Service. (02/27/23 Tr. 47-49). Because his house in Ohio was under contract at the time most of his personal belongings with him at the time. This included camping equipment which was locked up in a box that sat atop the bed of his truck. (02/27/23 Tr. 51-53). The rifle that he had recently purchased was in a padlocked

secured case that was located behind the passenger side of his vehicle. Mr. Carruth explained that both the bolt and firing mechanism of the rifle were separated from the rifle thus making the firearm non-operable at the time. The ammunition was kept in a separate container on the other side of the vehicle's cab. (02/27/23 Tr. 57-58).

At the time that Mr. Carruth purchased his rifle in Ohio he filled out all the required paperwork to register the firearm in the state. The date of the purchase was April 29<sup>th</sup>, 2021. (02/27/23 Tr. 69-71). He recalled that when he was initially stopped by the police, he was extremely cooperative and voluntarily complied with all the officer's requests such as turning over his driver's license and car registration. (02/23/23 Tr. 72-74). He explained that although he was in the District of Columbia at the time, he was ultimately on his way to Texas and that he had recently leased an apartment there. (02/23/23 Tr. 75). He was also enrolled at the time at the University of Ashland in Ohio for MBA courses. Many of the papers that the police discovered in the Silverado's inner cab were related to the courses on organization that he was taking and were part of his writing assignments. (02/23/23 Tr. 76-78). During cross-examination by the United States, while Mr. Carruth agreed that the rifle was not registered in the District of Columbia, he was still under the belief that his registration in Ohio had reciprocity. (02/27/243 Tr. 90). As to the writings that were found inside the cab of his truck,

he stated that they had no connection to his trip to the District of Columbia. His plan was as soon as he was finished with his visit, he planned to return to Ohio in order to check on the sale of his house. (02/27/23 Tr. 134-136).

### Rule on Witnesses Issue

During the government's cross-examination of Mr. Carruth, the trial court ordered an afternoon break with the intent for the government to return to its cross-examination. Upon the court's declaration of the recess, the government requested that "the Court to instruct the witness [Mr. Carruth] not to discuss his testimony, as he's still testifying, with his counsel." In response the trial court ordered "Mr. Carruth, you should not be speaking to your lawyer about the substance of your testimony." The defense strongly objected and made a clear desire to confer with Mr. Carruth in order to preserve its deprivation of assistance of counsel claim. The following colloquy took place:

The defense: "Well, because my client has a constitutional right to discuss testimony at any time, whether he's on the stand or not, with his attorney. And I will brief the issue if Your Honor wishes. But he has an absolute right to discuss what he has said on the stand, what it means. I mustn't coach him, I also mustn't rehearse him, but he is able to discuss what has happened, why it's happened, what the theory of the case is, and so on and so forth. That is right to counsel, Your Honor, the Sixth Amendment."

The trial court: "Well, he's in the middle of testifying, so he can't stop and say I need to talk to my lawyer about the substance of my testimony in the middle of his testimony; right?"

The defense: "Well, that's not what we have here. We have a period of time when my client at the lunch hour has every right to discuss the case and what went on. What he doesn't have a right to, perhaps -- let me leave it there. I think he has an absolute right, Your Honor."

The trial court: All right. Don't discuss your testimony with anyone, please. Thank you. We'll see you soon.

At the conclusion of the colloquy, the trial court maintained its ruling and ordered Mr. Carruth not to speak with his counsel. (02/27/23 Tr. 105-106)

#### The Defense's Renewal of its Motion for Judgment of Acquittal

Upon completion of Mr. Carruth's testimony, the defense renewed its motion for judgement of acquittal. In summarizing its argument, the defense, noting the different standard that now applied to its motion, renewed all its objections to Mr. Carruth's prosecution as violative of the Second Amendment of the Constitution. It was the defense's position that the United States could not prosecute Mr. Carruth due to his Second Amendment rights. Specifically addressing the charges under D.C. Code 22 § 4504 (a)(1), the defense asserted that Mr. Carruth's intent at the time of his arrest was to pass through the District of Columbia and his possession of the rifle was within an exception to the statute. Nor was the firearm, according to the defense, truly accessible as it was positioned securely in a padlocked case. In the defense's view there is no evidence that a juror

could reasonably find beyond a reasonable doubt to support the government's case. (02/27/23 Tr. 145-146).

The trial court, as it had done previously, denied the defense's motion. It held that there was sufficient evidence from which a reasonable jury could find Mr. Carruth guilty of each of the separate charges he was alleged to have committed. Even, if taking Mr. Carruth's version of events at his word, a reasonable juror could still find him guilty of the offense of possessing an unlicensed rifle in the District of Columbia and possessing an unregistered firearm in the District of Columbia. It would be up to the jury to decide if they can unanimously find that the defense of lawful transportation of a firearm had been met. For these reasons, the trial court denied the motion. (02/27/23 Tr. 146-150).

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. CARRUTH'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL

#### Standard of Review

This court will review a claim of insufficiency of evidence, as Mr. Carruth is claiming here, *de novo*. It will apply the same standard that the trial court applied in its ruling on Mr. Carruth's motion for judgment of acquittal. *Coffin v. United States*, 917 A.2d 1089, 1091 (D.C. 2007), *citing, Robinson v. United States*, 797

A.2d 698, 705 (D.C. 2002) and *United States v. Bamiduro*, 718 A.2d 547, 550 (D.C. 1998). In considering the sufficiency of the evidence, this court will view the evidence presented at trial in the light most favorable to the government's position. While the government must introduce sufficient evidence to sustain a conviction and that it must be sufficient to persuade a jury to reach a verdict of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, it does not need to compel such a verdict at the time a motion for judgment of acquittal is made. Nor for that matter is the government required to negate every possible inference of innocence before Mr. Carruth can be found guilty of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt.

*Chaconas v. United States*, 326 A.2d 792, 797-98 (D.C. 1974). *citations omitted*. To prevail on his sufficiency of the evidence claim, Mr. Carruth has the burden of establishing "that the government presented no evidence upon which a reasonable mind could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Coffin*, 917 A.2d at 1091, *citing*, *Mihas v. United States*, 618 A.2d 197, 200 (D.C. 1992). The same standard is applied in ruling on a motion for acquittal at the end of the entire case. *Chaconas*, at 798 (D.C. 1974).

## Analysis

D.C. Code § 22-4504 states as follows:

- (a) No person shall carry within the District of Columbia either openly or concealed on or about their person, a pistol, without a license issued

pursuant to District of Columbia law, or any deadly or dangerous weapon. Whoever violates this section shall be punished as provided in § 22-4515, except that:

(1) A person who violates this section by carrying a pistol, without a license issued pursuant to District of Columbia law, or any deadly or dangerous weapon, in a place other than the person's dwelling place, place of business, or on other land possessed by the person, shall be fined not more than the amount set forth in § 22-3571.01 or imprisoned for not more than 5 years, or both

In addition, D.C. Code § 22-4504.02 provides:

a) A person may not transport a firearm unless the person:

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