BRIEF FOR APPELLEE

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
COURT OF APPEALS

Clerk of the Court
Received 06/04/2024 11:33 AM
Filed 06/04/2024 11:33 AM

No. 23-CF-387

BRIAN CARRUTH,

Appellant,

v.

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA
CRIMINAL DIVISION

MATTHEW M. GRAVES
United States Attorney

CHRISELLEN R. KOLB
NICHOLAS P. COLEMAN
JULIAN GINOS

* DANIEL J. LENERZ
DC Bar #888283905
Assistant United States Attorneys

* Counsel for Oral Argument
601 D Street, NW, Room 6.232
Washington, D.C. 20530
Daniel.Lenerz@usdoj.gov
(202) 252-6829

Cr. No. 2021-CF2-6934

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The evidence was sufficient to support Carruth’s conviction for carrying a rifle under D.C. Code § 22-4504(a-1). That statute’s prohibition on “carrying” is broader than the requirement, set forth in the District’s carrying a pistol without a license statute, that the pistol be carried “on or about the[] person.” D.C. Code § 22-4505(a). As the Supreme Court recognized in *Muscarello v. United States*, 524 U.S. 125, 126-27 (1998), the ordinary meaning of “carrying” “applies to a person who knowingly possesses and conveys firearms in a vehicle, including in the locked glove compartment or trunk of a car, which the person accompanies.” The evidence that Carruth knowingly conveyed a rifle in a locked case in the passenger compartment of his pickup truck was thus sufficient to establish a violation of D.C. Code § 22-4504(a-1).

The evidence was also sufficient to establish that Carruth had not complied with the affirmative defense set forth by the District's firearm-transportation statute, D.C. Code § 22-4504.02. This is so for numerous reasons. A reasonable jury could have concluded that Carruth's destination was the District of Columbia, and thus that he was not merely transporting his rifle through the District as the statute requires. The jury also could have found that Carruth was making a roundtrip journey from Ohio to the District and back to Ohio, which would not fall within the statute's coverage. And the jury could have determined that Carruth's pickup truck had a compartment that was separate from the passenger compartment, and therefore that he failed to comply with D.C. Code § 22-4504.02 by transporting his rifle in a location that was directly accessible from the passenger compartment.

The trial court did not violate the Sixth Amendment when, during a lunch break in the midst of Carruth's cross-examination, it instructed Carruth not to discuss his testimony with anyone. The Supreme Court has recognized that a criminal defendant has no constitutional right to consult with his attorney while he is testifying. It has thus held that a trial judge may preclude a defendant from consulting with his attorney

during brief recesses where any conversation would relate to ongoing testimony. Here, the trial court’s order did not preclude all consultation between Carruth and his attorney. Instead, it only prevented Carruth from discussing his ongoing testimony with his attorney during the lunch recess. As numerous courts have found, such an order did not violate the Sixth Amendment.

The District’s prohibition on carrying a rifle as applied to Carruth does not violate the Second Amendment. That prohibition applies “except as otherwise provided by law,” and thus incorporates myriad exceptions that, taken together, restrict only the manner in which a person may carry a rifle. Carruth’s only argument on this point erroneously claims that he was required to register his rifle before he could transport it through the District. And the District’s laws regulating the manner in which rifles are carried apply to residents and nonresidents alike. There is thus no merit to Carruth’s argument that he faced an undue burden as compared with a D.C. resident.

ARGUMENT

I. There was Sufficient Evidence Both that Carruth Carried a Rifle and That He Did So in a Way that Did Not Comply with the District's Firearm-Transportation Statute.

Carruth challenges the sufficiency of the evidence in two respects.

He argues that there was insufficient evidence (1) that he was “carrying” the rifle as required by D.C. Code § 22-4504(a-1), and (2) that he transported the rifle in a manner inconsistent with the affirmative defense set forth in D.C. Code § 22-4504.02 (Brief for Appellant (Br.) at 12-18). These arguments are meritless.

A. Standard of Review

In challenging the sufficiency of the evidence, Carruth bears a “heavy burden.” *Olafisoye v. United States*, 857 A.2d 1078, 1086 (D.C. 2004). The evidence need not “compel a finding of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, nor . . . [must] the government negate every possible inference of innocence.” *Timberlake v. United States*, 758 A.2d 978, 980 (D.C. 2000). To prevail, Carruth must show that there was “no evidence upon which a reasonable mind could find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Watson v. United States*, 979 A.2d 1254, 1256 (D.C. 2009)

(quotation marks and citations omitted). This Court views the evidence “in the light most favorable to the government, giving full play to the right of the [fact-finder] to determine credibility, weigh the evidence, and draw justifiable inferences of fact, and mak[es] no distinction between direct and circumstantial evidence.” *McCraney v. United States*, 983 A.2d 1041, 1056 (D.C. 2009) (quotation marks omitted).

B. Discussion

1. Carrying a rifle

Carruth argues that the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction for carrying a rifle because the rifle was not “convenient of access and within reach” (Br. at 16 (quotation marks omitted)). This argument applies the wrong legal standard and is otherwise meritless.

a. Section 22-4504(a-1) does not require the rifle to be “convenient of access and within reach.”

A conviction for carrying a rifle under D.C. Code § 22-4504(a-1) does not require that the defendant keep the rifle in such proximity as to be “convenient of access and within reach.” Rather, the “convenient of access and within reach” standard is this Court’s interpretation of language in

the District's carrying a pistol without a license statute that requires the pistol to be carried "on or about the[] person." Under D.C. Code § 22-4505(a), "[n]o person shall carry within the District of Columbia either openly or concealed *on or about their person*, a pistol, without a license issued pursuant to District of Columbia law, or any deadly or dangerous weapon." (emphasis added). Interpreting the italicized language, this Court has held that, "[b]ecause 'possession' is a broader concept than to 'carry on or about the person,' the government's evidence must go beyond mere proof of constructive possession and must show that the pistol was in such proximity to the person as to be convenient of access and within reach." *White v. United States*, 714 A.2d 115, 119 (D.C. 1998) (cleaned up); *see generally Henderson v. United States*, 687 A.2d 918, 920 (D.C. 1996) ("The meaning of the statutory language italicized above has been the subject of judicial consideration in this jurisdiction for many years.").

The District's prohibition on carrying a rifle or shotgun, in contrast, contains no requirement that the firearm be carried "on or about the[] person." Instead, that statute states only: "Except as otherwise permitted by law, no person shall carry within the District of Columbia a rifle or shotgun." D.C. Code § 22-4504(a-1).

This Court does not appear to have interpreted the term “carry” for purposes of the District’s prohibition on carrying rifles and shotguns, which the Council enacted in 2009. *See* 56 D.C. Reg. 1162, 1164 (Feb. 6, 2009). As the Supreme Court has explained, however, “[w]hen one uses the word [carry] in the first, or primary, meaning, one can, as a matter of ordinary English, ‘carry firearms’ in a wagon, car, truck, or other vehicle that one accompanies.” *Muscarello v. United States*, 524 U.S. 125, 128 (1998) (discussing dictionary definitions of “carry”); *see generally Lucas v. United States*, 305 A.3d 774, 777 (D.C. 2023) (“When the statute does not define the term in question, it is appropriate for us to look to dictionary definitions to determine its ordinary meaning.”) (cleaned up). Applying this primary meaning, the Supreme Court held that the federal prohibition on “carr[ying] a firearm” during and in relation to a drug-trafficking crime, 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1), “applies to a person who knowingly possesses and conveys firearms in a vehicle, including in the locked glove compartment or trunk of a car, which the person accompanies.” *Muscarello*, 524 U.S. at 126-27.

This Court should apply the same interpretation to § 22-4504(a-1). Nothing in the text, legislative history, or structure of that provision

suggests that, to violate the statute, one must carry a rifle or shotgun “in such proximity to the person as to be convenient of access and within reach.” *White*, 714 A.2d at 119 (cleaned up). As a textual matter, when it enacted § 22-4504(a-1), the Council chose not to include the requirement, found in § 22-4505(a), that the rifle or shotgun be carried “on or about the[] person.” The Council thus indicated that it intended different standards to apply to the two crimes. *See Beatley v. District of Columbia*, 307 A.3d 470, 476 n.8 (D.C. 2024) (noting the “usual rule that when the legislature uses certain language in one part of the statute and different language in another, the court assumes different meanings were intended”) (quoting *Sosa v. Alvarez-Machain*, 542 U.S. 692, 711 n.9 (2004)) (some quotation marks omitted). Indeed, before the Council enacted § 22-4504(a-1), defendants who carried rifles in the District were prosecuted under § 22-4504(a) for carrying a dangerous weapon. *See, e.g.*, *Bean v. United States*, 576 A.2d 187, 188 (D.C. 1990). It would make no sense to import the “on or about the[] person” requirement from § 22-4504(a) into § 22-4504(a-1), when the text of the latter statute contains no such language and where the Council explicitly enacted it as a separate provision with different requirements.

Likewise, nothing in § 22-4504(a-1)'s legislative history indicates that the Council intended it be limited to situations where the rifle or shotgun was carried "in such proximity to the person as to be convenient of access and within reach." To the contrary, when enacting § 22-4504(a-1), the Council stated only that the law "clarif[ied] that no person shall carry a long arm in the District except as otherwise permitted by law (e.g. lawful transportation related to commerce or recreation)[.]" Committee on Public Safety and the Judiciary, Council of the District of Columbia, Committee Report on Bill 17-593, "Inoperable Pistol Amendment Act of 2008," at 3-4 (Nov. 25, 2008). If anything, the Council's focus on the "transportation" of rifles and shotguns indicates that it was contemplating a much broader swath of conduct than either physically carrying a rifle or shotgun or having one "convenient of access and within reach." *See generally Muscarello*, 524 U.S. at 134 (explaining that "'transport' is broader than the word 'carry'").

Adopting *Muscarello*'s understanding of what it means to "carry" a firearm also makes sense given the structure of the District's firearms crimes. In various different provisions, the District has criminalized being "armed with or having readily available" a firearm, D.C. Code § 22-

4502(a), carrying a firearm “on or about the[] person,” § 22-4504(a), carrying a firearm, § 22-4504(a-1), “transport[ing]” a firearm, § 22-4504.02(a), and having a firearm in one’s “possession or . . . control,” § 22-4503(a). “Carrying” is a narrower concept than “possession” or “transporting,” but broader than being “armed with” or having something “readily available” or “on or about the person.” *See Muscarello*, 524 U.S. at 134 (explaining that “transport” is broader than the word ‘carry,’ and that the Court’s “definition does not equate ‘carry’ and ‘transport’”); *Snell v. United States*, 68 A.3d 689, 694 (D.C. 2013) (“carried” is “a narrower concept than possession”); *White*, 714 A.2d at 119 (“possession” is a broader concept than to ‘carry on or about the person’”) (quotation marks omitted); *Thomas v. United States*, 602 A.2d 647, 654 (D.C. 1992) (“possession is a broader concept than armed with/readily available”). Adopting *Muscarello*’s definition of what it means to “carry” a firearm—which is not “limited to the carrying of firearms on the person,” 524 U.S. at 126, but which “requires personal agency and some degree of possession, whereas ‘transport’ does not,” *id.* at 134—would properly place § 22-4504(a-1) in the hierarchy of the District’s firearms laws.

b. There was sufficient evidence that Carruth carried the rifle.

Although the jury was instructed that it had to find Carruth carried the rifle “on or about his person” (2/27/23 Tr. 168), “[b]ecause the [sufficiency] question is what ‘any rational trier of fact’ could have found, [the court’s] determination ‘does not rest on how the jury was instructed.’” *United States v. Abukhatallah*, 41 F.4th 608, 624 (D.C. Cir. 2021) (quoting *Musacchio v. United States*, 577 U.S. 237, 243 (2016)).

Applying the correct legal standard, there was sufficient evidence that Carruth carried the rifle for purposes of D.C. Code § 22-4504(a-1). The evidence was undisputed that Carruth’s rifle was in a padlocked case behind the driver’s seat of his pickup truck, that Carruth was driving the truck, and that he knew the rifle was there. This was sufficient to establish that Carruth carried the rifle. *See Muscarello*, 524 U.S. at 126-27 (the prohibition on carrying a firearm “applies to a person who knowingly possesses and conveys firearms in a vehicle, including in the locked glove compartment or trunk of a car, which the person accompanies”). And even were the Court to adopt a more stringent definition of “carrying,” the evidence would be sufficient to meet it. The rifle was immediately behind Carruth’s seat, where he could reach it, and

he had the key to the padlock on his truck keychain. Thus, “a jury could reasonably find that the location of the gun did not present any obstacle denying [Carruth] convenient access to the weapon or placing it beyond his reach.” *White*, 714 A.2d at 120. *See also Porter v. United States*, 282 A.2d 559, 560-61 (D.C. 1971) (“[I]t can hardly be said that the location of the revolver under the passenger side of the front seat presented an obstacle such as to deny appellant convenient access to the weapon or place it beyond his reach.”).

2. Lawful transportation

At the time of Carruth’s offense, the District’s lawful-transportation statute stated, in relevant part, that “any person . . . shall be permitted to transport a firearm for any lawful purpose from any place where he may lawfully possess and carry the firearm to any other place where he may lawfully possess and carry the firearm if the firearm is transported in accordance with this section.” § 22-4504.02(a) (2021).¹ The statute set forth the following requirements:

¹ All subsequent citations are to the 2021 version of the statute, which was amended in 2023 to make unlawful transportation a crime. *See* 70 D.C. Reg. 928, 933 (Jan. 27, 2023).

(b)(1) If the transportation of the firearm is by a vehicle, the firearm shall be unloaded, and neither the firearm nor any ammunition being transported shall be readily accessible or directly accessible from the passenger compartment of the transporting vehicle.

(2) If the transporting vehicle does not have a compartment separate from the driver's compartment, the firearm or ammunition shall be contained in a locked container other than the glove compartment or console, and the firearm shall be unloaded.

§ 22-4504.02(b)(1)-(2). The evidence was sufficient for the jury to reject this affirmative defense for several separate reasons. *See generally Abed v. United States*, 278 A.3d 114, 127 (D.C. 2022) (“When a defendant relies on a statutory exception [such as the LEOSA exception] as an affirmative defense to a criminal charge, the burden is on the defendant to bring himself or herself within the exception.”) (quoting *Bsharah v. United States*, 646 A.2d 993, 998 (D.C. 1994)).

First, a reasonable jury could have concluded that Carruth’s destination was D.C., and thus that he was *not* “transport[ing] a firearm . . . from any place where he may lawfully possess and carry the firearm to any other place where he may lawfully possess and carry the firearm[.]” § 22-4504.02(a). Carruth told Officer Young that he had come to D.C. “on a matter of national security with the Department of Interior”

and “that he was here to visit the White House” (2/23/23 Tr. 53). Carruth, however, could not lawfully possess and carry his rifle in the District of Columbia: Carruth had no firearm registration in D.C. for the rifle found in his car and no license to carry a firearm here (2/23/23 Tr. 205, 209-10). *See D.C. Code § 7-2502.01(a)* (making it a crime to “possess or control any firearm, unless the person . . . holds a valid registration certificate for the firearm”).

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